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This matter comes before the Court on a Motion to Dismiss ("Motion") Plaintiff Lyle Weisman's 
("Plaintiff') First Amended Complaint ("FAC"), filed on March 7, 2013 by Defendants County of Los 
Angeles ("County"), Sevana Naaman ("Naaman"), Tammy Moots ("Moots"), Alberto Miro ("Miro"), 
Payam Kade ("Kade"), Grace Espana ("Espana"), Yervand Grigoryan ("Grigoryan"), Sarah Wong 
("Wong"), Carmen Rochelle ("Rochelle"), Karla Hosch ("Hosch"), Arena Cole ("Cole"), and Javier 
Oliva ("Oliva") (collectively, "Social Workers"); Defendants Elizabeth Canup ("Canup"), Claudia 
Duarte ("Duarte"), and David Griffin ("Griffin") (collectively, "Administrators"); and Defendants 
Philip L. Browning ("Browning"), Patricia Ploehn ("Ploehn"), Jackie Contreras ("Contreras"), and 
Antonia Jimenez ("Jimenez") (collectively,, "Directors") (all inclusive collectively, "Defendants"). 
The Court found this matter suitable for disposition without oral argument and vacated the hearing 
set for April 29, 2013. See Fed R. Civ P. 78(b). For the following reasons, the Court GRANTS 
IN PART AND DENIES IN PART Defendants' Motion to Dismiss. 

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Plaintiff brings his claims challenging a series of determinations made by employees of the 
County's Department of Children and Family Services ("DCFS") relating to his son, D.W. ("DW'). 
(See generally FAC, ECF No. 5.) DW was born in late 2005, and Plaintiff has always shared 

custody of DW with DWs mother, Julia Fouzik ("Ms. Fouzik"). (FAC 129.) 

On November 15, 2010, DCFS received a "5-day referral," suggesting that Plaintiff had placed DW 
at risk fo emotional harm. (FAC ¶1 30.) A police report was also filed prompting Los Angeles 
Police Department ("LAPD") involvement, and DCFS "applied pressure" on the LAPD to continue 
that investigation, but LAPD ultimately dropped that complaint as unwarranted. (FAC ¶ 30.) On 
November 30, Naaman visited Ms. Fouzik and interviewed members of Ms. Fouzik's household 
and family, including DW. (FAC ¶ 31.) At no time did Naaman obtain Plaintiffs permission to 
interview DW. (FAC ¶ 31.) Based on this visit and these interviews, Naaman, Moots, and Miro 
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jointly decided to remove DWfrom Plaintiffs custody and exclusively into Ms. Fouzik's custody. 
(FAC TJ 32-33.) No one obtained any warrant, nor did anyone inform Plaintiff, before 
implementing this decision; this is common practice in the County. (FAC ¶IT 32-34.) On 
December 2, 2010, Naaman informed Plaintiff of this action and told him that there would be a 
detention hearing on this matter. (FAC II 35.) 

On December 6, 2010, Wong filed a Juvenile Dependency Petition ("2010 Petition") that alleged, 
among other things, that (1) Plaintiff might inflict physical harm on DW; (2) Plaintiff threatened to 
kill Ms. Fouzik; (3) Plaintiff and Ms. Fouzik had been physical in DW5 presence; (4) Plaintiff had 
raped Ms. Fouzik; and (5) Plaintiff had failed to use a seatbelt on DW, resulting in abdominal injury 
to DW. (FAC ¶1136,  39.) Plaintiff denies these allegations, and alleges that Wong either knew the 
allegations were false, or she demonstrated a reckless indifference to the truth, in filing this 
petition. (FAC 1111 37-38.) Also on December 6, 2010, Naaman, Miro, and Kade signed a 
Detention Report ("2010 Report") setting forth evidence in support of the 2010 Petition. (FAC 
139.) Plaintiff alleges that there is no valid evidence in the 2010 Report, and that Defendants 
knew this. (FAC ¶11 40-41.) Regardless, on December 7, 2010, a juvenile court accepted the 
2010 Report into evidence and removed DWfrom both Plaintiffs and Ms. Fouzik's care. (FAC 
¶43.) 

On December 22, 2010, 1  Espana and Grigoryan filed a Jurisdiction/Disposition Report republishing 
the same allegations against Plaintiff and Ms. Fouzik, and recommended that Plaintiff enroll in 
certain therapy and anger management services in order to regain custody of DW. (FAC 145.) 
In February 2011, Plaintiff and Ms. Fouzik pleaded no contest to an amended verison of the 20l0 
Petition, which allowed Plaintiff and Ms. Fouzik to regain shared custody of DW. (FAC ¶11 46-47 .) 
This situation lasted for approximately one year. 

On February 24, 2012, Defendants again removed DW from Plaintiffs custody, based in part on 
a report filed by Hosch and Cole, "Last Minute Information for the Court," that laid out further 
allegations against Plaintiff. (FAC IM 50-51.) This decision came in spite of the fact that on 
February 21, 2012, a 'Team Decision Meeting" between Plaintiff and several Defendants" had 
concluded that "the child should remain in the home of the parents." (FAC ¶ 49.) Plaintiff alleges 
that Hosch and Cole substantially altered the intent and meaning of reports they had received from 
DW5 therapist, and Plaintiffs and Ms. Fouzik's conjoint therapist, in preparing their report. (FAC 

¶11 51-52.) Specifically, he alleges that Hosch and Cole concealed exculpatory information that 
Ms. Fouzik was causing DW5 stress, that therapist had recommended a full custody evaluation, 
and that a medical examination had determined that Plaintiff had not caused any injury to DW. 
(FAC ¶11 54-55.) Hosch and Cole also filed an "Interim Review Report" around the same time, 
which contained similar statements. (FAC 153.) 

1  Plaintiffs complaint lists this date as December 22, 2012, but given the circumstances 
the Court believes Plaintiff intended to list this date as having occurred in 2010 
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On February 29, 2012, Rochelle filed a second Juvenile Dependency Petition ("2012 Petition") that 
alleged, among other things, that (1) Plaintiff had emotionally abused DWthrough his conflict with 
Ms. Fouzik; and (2) Plaintiff had caused DWto miss scheduled calls with his mother. (FAC ¶[ 56, 
58.) Plaintiff also disputes these charges and claims that Defendants knew them to be false. 
(FAC %T 57, 59.) Hosch and Cole filed a Detention Report in conjunction with the 2012 Petition 
("2012 Report"), in which they continued to refer to previous allegations from the 2010 Petition, 
which Plaintiff contends were "dismissed based on the. . .'no contest plea." (FAC ¶[ 60.) They 
also reported that Plaintiff refused to cooperate with Ms. Fouzik, using as an example an 
observation that Plaintiff refused to take DWto karate lessons "because karate lessons were [Ms.] 
Fouzik's idea." (FAC ¶ 60.) Plaintiff claims that he failed to do so because the lessons fell on the 
Sabbath, which made it impossible for Plaintiff, who is a member of the Orthodox Jewish faith, to 
drive DW to the practice. (FAC ¶1 60.) Plaintiff also alleges that Hosch and Cole knew this but 
failed to provide this exculpatory information. (FAC %160-61.) Oliva supervised Hosch and Cole's 
actions, and assured Plaintiff that DCFS would not recommend DWs removal from his care, but 
he ultimately sanctioned Hosch and Cole's decisions. (FAC ¶ 63.) 

In response to Defendants' actions, Plaintiff filed a Motion to Remove Social Workers for Bias, Or 
in the Alternative, to Strike the Social Workers' Reports Due to Bias, pursuant to California Welfare 
and Institutions Code Section 16513.5 ("Section 16513.5 Motion"). (FAC 164.)  As a result of this 
filing, Hosch and Cole were removed from Plaintiffs case (FAC ¶ 64), but Plaintiff has been 
otherwise unable to obtain the relief he seeks (FAC ¶ 65-66). Plaintiff further alleges that 
Defendants have continued to misrepresent the facts in his case to keep him from seeing DW. 
(FAC66.) 

DISCUSSION 

A motion to dismiss pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) "tests the legal 
sufficiency of the claims asserted in the complaint." Ileto v. Glock, Inc., 349 F.3d 1191, 1199-200 
(9th Cir. 2003). In evaluating a motion to dismiss, a court accepts the plaintiffs factual allegations 
in the complaint as true and construes them in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. Shwarz v. 
United States, 234 F.3d 428, 435 (9th Cir. 2000). "Dismissal can be based on the lack of a 
cognizable legal theory or the absence of sufficient facts alleged under a cognizable legal theory." 
Ba!istreri v. Pacifica Police Dept, 901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1988). 

Rule 12(b)(6) must be read in conjunction with Rule 8(a), which requires "a short and plain 
statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief." Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2); see 
Ileto, 349 F.3d at 1200. "While legal conclusions can provide the framework of a complaint, they 
must be supported by factual allegations." Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 679 (2009). To plead 
sufficiently, Plaintiffs must proffer "enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its 
face." Bell At!. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). "A claim has facial plausibility when 
the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the 
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defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged." Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678. "Vague and conclusory 
allegations of official participation in civil rights violations are not sufficient to withstand a motion 
to dismiss." Ivey v. Bd. of Regents, 673 F.2d 266, 268 (9th Cir. 1982). 

In this case, Plaintiff brings claims for (1) Violation of Civil Rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against 
Social Workers; (2) Monell-Related Claims against the County and Directors; (3) Violation of State 
Civil Rights against Defendants; (4) Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress ("lIED") against 
Social Workers; (5) Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress ("N lED") against Social Workers; 
(6) Negligence, against Social Workers; (7) Abuse of Process, against Social Workers; (8) Failure 
to Discharge a Mandatory Duty, against Social Workers; (9) Invasion of Privacy, against Social 
Workers; and (10) Declaratory Relief, against County and Social Workers. (Compl. Prayer for 
Relief.) Defendants argue in their Motion that none of these requests states claims upon which 
relief can be granted. (See generally Mot. 2, ECF No. 27.) The Court addresses each of these 
arguments in turn. 

C. 	Claim One: Violation of Civil Rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

Section 1983 provides a cause of action against any person "acting under color of' state law who 
"subjects, or causes to be subjected," another person to deprivation of any federal rights. 42 
U.S.C. § 1983. Here, Plaintiff has asserted claims against numerous individuals for violation of 
his rights under the First, Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendments. These violations allegedly resulted 
from three separate counts: (1) Defendants' warrantless seizure of DW from Plaintiffs custody; 
(2) Defendants' perjury, fabrication of evidence, and suppression of exculpatory evidence; and (3) 
Defendants' defamation of Plaintiff based on his religious identity. (FAC IM 69-91.) Each count 
must be supported separately by the allegations in his FAC. 

As an initial matter, individuals may only be liable for constitutional violations resulting from their 
own misconduct: "there is no respondeat superior liability under section 1983." Jones v. Williams, 
297 F.3d 930, 934 (9th Cir. 2002). This eliminates the possibility of liability for the Directors, all 
of whom have been listed by Plaintiff as supervisors of other Defendants' activities. (FAC ¶11 21-
24.) Similarly, the County is not directly responsible for the actions of its employees. The Court 
therefore DISMISSES Plaintiffs § 1983 claims against the Supervisors and the County, without 
leave to amend. 

Absolute Immunity 

Before addressing the specifics of Plaintiffs claims as to individual Defendants, the Court must 
first consider the question of absolute immunity. Absolute immunity is appropriate under both 
common law and under § 1983 for officers performing critical judicial functions, including 
prosecution. lmblerv. Pachtman, 424 U.S. 409,427(1976). However, absolute immunity is only 
available for that narrow set of judicial activities: "the specific function performed, and not the role 
or title of the official, . . . is the touchstone of absolute immunity." Miller v. Gammie, 335 F.3d 889, 
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897 (9th Cir. 2003) (citing Kalina v. Fletcher, 522 U.S. 118, 119(1997).). This test is a strict one: 
"[t]he presumption is that qualified rather than absolute immunity is sufficient to protect 
government officials in the exercise of their duties." Antoine v. Byers & Anderson, Inc., 508 U.S. 
429, 433 (1993). The Ninth Circuit examined these issues in the context of family-service social 
workers and provided the following summary of its analysis: 

[W]e held that the initiation and pursuit of child-dependency 
proceedings were prosecutorial in nature and warranted absolute 
immunity on that basis. We were careful there, however, to 
distinguish between a social worker's activities performed as an 
advocate within the judicial decision-making process, a function for 
which there is common-law absolute immunity, and other actions 
taken by a social worker. We found that unless the social worker's 
activity has the requisite connection to the judicial process, only 
qualified immunity is available. 

Miller v. Gammie, 335 F.3d 889, 896, 898 (9th Cir. 2003) (emphasis added, internal citations 
omitted) (summarizing the Ninth Circuit's previous holding in Meyers v. Contra Costa Cnty. Dept 
of Soc. Sen/s., 812 F.2d 1154 (9th Cir. 1987), and concluding that the holding was "consistent with" 
controlling Supreme Court decisions on absolute immunity). In distinguishing between judicial 
functions and other functions, defendants bear the burden of demonstrating that absolute 
immunity is appropriate. District courts attempting to resolve these questions "must apply the 
guiding principles to the allegations concerning the defendants in [a given] case," and it may be 
appropriate to defer ruling on the pleadings until the nature of individual defendants' functions is 
sufficiently outlined. Miller, 335 F.3d at 898-99. Thus, this Court must attempt to determine the 
nature of each Defendant's actions in order to determine whether absolute immunity is 
appropriate. 

In this case, the question requires a detailed analysis of the various Defendants' roles throughout 
this process. Based on Plaintiffs FAC, Defendants' actions appear to be separable into the 
following eleven events: 

(1) Interviewing Ms. Fouzik and family without Plaintiffs permission (Naaman) ("Interview"); 
(2) Taking DWfrom Plaintiffs Custody in 2010 (Naaman, Moots, Miro) ("2010 Removal"); 
(3) Misrepresenting investigation results in 2010 (Naaman, Kade) ("2010 Investigation") 
(4) Filing 2010 Juvenile Dependency Petition (Wong); 
(5) Signing 2010 Report (Naaman, Miro, Kade) ; 2  

(6) Filing Jurisdiction/Disposition Report (Espana, Grigbryan); 
(7) Filing Last Minute Information for the Court and Interim Report (Hosch, Cole); 

2  Plaintiff also alleges that this signature was on behalf of Moots (FAC IT 39), but as Moots 
did not in fact undertake any actions on this point, no liability can incur. 
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(8) Filing 2012 Juvenile Dependency Petition (Rochelle); 
(9) Misrepresenting investigation results in 2012 (Hosch, Cole) ("2012 Investigation"); 
(10) Signing 2012 Report (Hosch, Cole); and 
(11) Sanctioning subordinates' activities, directly or indirectly (Ploehn, Oliva) 

(See generally FAC.) The Court divides these events into four sets of activities: 

(1) Investigatory activities; 
(2) Filing of petitions and reports; 
(3) Physical removal of DW from Plaintiffs custody; and 
(4) Approval of subordinates' actions. 

Investigatory activities by social workers are clearly not granted absolute immunity. Social workers 
gain absolute immunity when, as above, their actions in quasi-judicial proceedings mirror actions 
traditionally taken by prosecutors orjudges. Miller, 335 F.3d at 896. But the Ninth Circuit has also 
explicitly stated that "social workers are not afforded absolute immunity for their investigatory 
conduct, discretionary decisions or recommendations." Defendants' actions investigating Plaintiff 
and Ms. Fouzik and their households cannot be classified as quasi-judicial actions—neither 
prosecutors norjudges engage in the type of informal information gathering that Defendants have 
engaged in here—and the Ninth Circuit, which binds this Court, has ruled likewise. Defendants 
thus may not claim absolute immunity against allegations of misconduct during their investigation 
of DW5 case. 

Defendants' filing of petitions and reports present a slightly more complicated question. The Ninth 
Circuit has clarified that "social workers have absolute immunity when they make discretionary, 
quasi-prosecutorial decisions to institute court dependency proceedings to take custody away from 
parents." Beltran v. Santa Clara County, 514 F.3d 906, 908 (9th Cir. 2008) (en banc) (internal 
quotations omitted). However, social workers are "not entitled to absolute immunity from claims 
that they fabricated evidence during an investigation or made false statements in a dependency 
petition affidavit that they signed under penalty of perjury, because such actions aren't similar to 
discretionary decisions about whether to prosecute." Beltran, 514 F.3d at 908. Petitions and 
Reports made to an administrative court during a quasi-judicial proceeding would at first appear 
to qualify as quasi-prosecutorial actions thatwould then gain the protection of absolute immunity. 
But each of these reports and petitions were signed "under penalty of perjury" (FAC[36-40, 56-
59.) According to the ruling in Beltran, statements made to the court under penalty of perjury are 
not entitled to absolute immunity, and so this Court may not grant absolute immunity here. 

The physical removal of DW from Plaintiffs custody without warrant raises distinct questions. The 
FAC does not elucidate completely the circumstances under which Naaman, Moots, and Miro 
decided to remove DW from Plaintiffs custody, or what sort of process was adhered to in making 
that decision. (See FAC 32.) Without more information, the Court cannot determine whether 
absolute immunity would be appropriate for this decision. However, because Defendants bear the 
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burden of demonstrating absolute immunity, the Court declines to grant such immunity here, 
reserving the right to change this ruling based on further information. See Miller, 335 F.3d at 898-
99. 

The Court also does not resolve the question of absolute immunity for Oliva in sanctioning Hosch's 
and Cole's activities for substantially the same reasons just given above. Until the Court 
understands the nature of Oliva's role in this process, granting absolute immunity is inappropriate. 

2. 	Qualified Immunity 

Defendants also assert that qualified immunity protects their various actions in this case. (Mot. 
12-13.) Qualified immunity shields government officials "from liability for civil damages insofar as 
their conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a 
reasonable person would have known." Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 818 (1982). It 
"balances two impOrtant interests—the need to hold public officials accountable when they 
exercise power irresponsibly and the need to shield officials from harassment, distraction, and 
liability when they perform their duties reasonably. 3  Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 231 
(2009). Where qualified immunity applies, it should be resolved as quickly as possible; qualified 
immunity is intended to protect government officials from "insubstantial claims" and does not 
provide any substantive protection once a case proceeds to trial. Anderson v. Creighton, 483 U.S. 
635, 640, n. 2(1987); Hunterv. Bryant, 502 U.S. 224, 227 (1991) (per curiam). 

A court must consider two factors when running a qualified immunity analysis: first, whether the 
defendant's actions in fact amounted to a constitutional violation; and second, whether, in spite 
of such violation, a reasonable official would not understand that his conduct violated that right. 4  

In the context of social work, "[t]o the extent . . . that social workers . . . make 
discretionary decisions and recommendations that are not functionally similar to 
prosecutorial orjudicial decisions. . . qualified, [though] not absolute immunity, is available. 
Miller, 335 F.3d at 898. Similarly, the Supreme Court has observed that "[t]he presumption 
is that qualified rather than absolute immunity is sufficient to protect government officials 
in the exercise of their duties." Antoine, 508 U.S. at 433. In other words, while absolute 
immunity is not always appropriate for actions taken in the course of governmental work, 
qualified immunity is more broadly granted. 

The Supreme Court at one point required courts to focus first on whether a constitutional 
violation took place before determining whether such violation may have been the result 
of a reasonable but mistaken belief that there was no violation. Saucier v. Katz, 533 U.S. 
194(2001). The Supreme Court has since abandoned this requirement, however, and now 
allows courts to consider these factors in either order as appropriate. Pearson v. Callahan, 
555 U.S. 223 (2009). The Court considers first whether the allegations in the FAC allow 
for a finding that Defendants' actions were reasonable, even if they did violate Plaintiffs 
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Tamas v. Dept of Soc. & Health Sen's., 630 F.3d 833, 842 (9th Cir. 2010). In other words, to 
satisfy the requirements for qualified immunity, government officials must demonstrate that they 
"reasonably but mistakenly believed that [their] conduct did not violate a clearly established 
constitutional right." Jackson v. City of Bremerton, 268 F.3d 646,651(9th Cir. 2001). This means 
that application of qualified immunity is limited to inadvertent violations. Here, Plaintiff has alleged 
that Defendants' actions throughout were purposeful; there is no allegation of negligence or error. 
And the Court does not see how anyone could perform the actions alleged (misrepresentation of 
facts, religious discrimination, etc.) while reasonably believing them to be lawful. Thus, to the 
extent that the Court takes Plaintiffs allegations as true, Defendants may not claim the protection 
of qualified immunity. 

Although the Court must accept all facts alleged as true, it need not follow Plaintiffs conclusory 
allegations that are not based on hard facts. "It is the conclusory nature of. . . allegations, rather 
than their extravagantly fanciful nature, that disentitles them to the presumption of truth. Iqbal, 556 
U.S. at 681. Here, Plaintiff has undeniably pleaded sufficient facts disqualifying Defendants who 
engaged in investigatory activities from claiming qualified immunity against Plaintiffs charges. 
Naaman, Kade, Hosch, and Cole ("Investigators") have all allegedly participated in investigations 
relating to DWs case and collected information first-hand from Plaintiff, Ms. Fouzik, DW, and 
treating persons involved in the case. (FAC ¶11 31, 42, 51-52, 54-55.) Whether or not Plaintiffs 
allegations are fanciful here, Plaintiff has provided factual backing for his contention that the 
Investigators purposefully and knowingly misrepresented information of which they were 
personally knowledgeable. The Investigators are thus not entitled to qualified immunity. 

Plaintiffs allegations against the remaining Social Workers are not as thorough, however. Plaintiff 
alleges that Wong and Rochelle filed Juvenile Dependency Petitions ;  Naaman, Kade, Moots, Miro, 
Hosch, and Cole were involved in the filing of Detention Reports; and Espana and Grigoryan filed 
a Jurisdiction/Disposition Report (collectively, "Filers")—all of which were purposefully incorrect. 
(FAC $136-42, 45, 56-59.) But apart from the Investigators, Plaintiff does not allege any facts 
suggesting that the Filers in fact personally knew that the fact they reported were incorrect. The 
Supreme Court provides further guidance here: 

It is true that Rule 9(b). . . allow[s] "[m]alice, intent, knowledge, and 
other conditions of a person's mind [to] be alleged generally." But 
"generally" is a relative term. In the context of Rule 9, it is to be 
compared to the particularity requirement applicable to fraud or 
mistake. Rule 9 merely excuses a party from pleading discriminatory 
intent under an elevated pleading standard. It does not give him 
license to evade the less rigid "though still operative" strictures of Rule 
8.. .. And Rule 8 does not empower respondent to plead the bare 

rig hts. 
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elements of his cause of action, affix the label "general allegation," 
and expect his complaint to survive a motion to dismiss. 

Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 686-87. Here, to avoid qualified immunity Plaintiff was required to demonstrate 
that Defendants' various misrepresentations were not reasonable mistakes, and so he alleged that 
any such misrepresentations were purposeful and malicious in nature. But for the Filers who were 
not Investigators in this matter, Plaintiff has not provided any facts indicating how they could have 
known the falsehood of their statements. To the contrary, it is entirely possible, even probable, 
that the non-Investigator Filers relied on their colleagues' reports and assessments, which is 
eminently reasonable given the circumstances of this case and their probable past reliance on 
these colleagues. Thus, although the non-Investigator Filers may have violated Plaintiffs 
constitutional right to due process under the facts alleged, they are entitled to qualified immunity. 

The same reasoning underlies the Court's conclusion that the Administrators, and Oliva, are 
entitled to qualified immunity. Plaintiff alleges that the Administrators have caused DCFS to 
continue with the "unwarranted detention" of DW based on misrepresentations of fact. (FAC J 65.) 
But he does not even allege what role the Administrators serve at DCFS, much less any basis for 
which they might have personal knowledge of the events in question. 5  And Plaintiff alleges that 
Oliva "knew of his subordinates [sic] activities" but does allege any facts demonstrating that Oliva 
should not have relied on the statements or representations of Cole and Hosch. (FAC ¶ 63.) 
Unless and until Plaintiff alleges specific facts demonstrating that the Administrators and Oliva 
were personally aware that Investigators' representations were untrue, the Court need not accept 
Plaintiffs statement to that end. The Court therefore grants the Administrators, and Oliva, 
qualified immunity. 

The social workers who removed DW from Plaintiffs custody without a warrant cannot receive 
qualified immunity, however. The Court addresses below the merits of Plaintiffs legal arguments, 
but it is clearly alleged in the FAC that Naaman, Moots, and Miro (collectively, "Removal Team") 
knowingly removed DW from Plaintiffs custody and knowingly did so without a warrant. (FAC 
132.) Given that there is no real possibility of reasonable mistake in these circumstances, 
qualified immunity is not appropriate. 

Plaintiff does allege that Duarte filed a "Status Review Report," on December 17, 2012, 
which noted that Plaintiff was "working on" anger issues (FAC ¶ 66), but he does not 
explain the role this may or may not have had in the DCFS's decision to remove DW from 
his custody. 
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The Court therefore grants qualified immunity to Defendants Moots, Miro, Espana, Grigoryan, 
Oliva, Canup, Duarte, and Griffin, and DISMISSES Plaintiffs § 1983 claims against them, with 
leave to amend. 6  

3. Warrantless Seizure of DW 

Turning now to the merits of Plaintiffs claims, Defendants argue that Plaintiff fails to state a claim 
against the Removal Team for the removal of DW from Plaintiffs custody in violation of his 
Fourteenth Amendment right of family association. 7  Social workers acting under state authority 
"may not remove children from their parents' custody without a court order unless there is specific, 
articulable evidence that provides reasonable cause to believe that a child is in imminent danger 
of abuse. Wallis v. Spencer, 202 F.3d 1126, 1138 (9th Cir. 2000). The Ninth Circuit has found 
that "imminent" danger requires more than a general fear of abuse; social workers must have 
believed that a child might be injured in the "few hours" it would take to obtain a warrant. 
Anderson-Francois v. Cnty. of Sonoma, 415 F. App'x 6, 10 (9th Cir. 2011). Here, the Removal 
Team acted on a 5-day referral, Naaman interviewed DWand his family on November 30, and DW 
was not removed from Plaintiffs custody until December 1. (FAC ¶11 30-32.) Although the 
Removal Team acted quickly here, it waited a day before acting, and could have obtained a 
warrant in that time. Plaintiff has thus properly pleaded a constitutional violation based on the 
Removal Team's warrantless removal of DW. 

4. Dishonesty During Investigation and Advocacy Process 

The Court now addresses the sufficiency of Plaintiffs Fourteenth Amendment claims against the 
I nvestigators—Naaman, Kade, Hosch, and Cole—for violation of substantive due process.' The 
due process right allegedly violated by the Investigators' actions is the right "not to be subjected 
to false accusations on the basis of false evidence that was deliberately fabricated by the 
government" (FAC 179), which is clearly a right. Per above, Plaintiff has alleged facts sufficient 
to support a finding that the Investigators knowingly presented false information in quasi-judicial 
proceedings designed to remove DWfrom Plaintiffs custody. This is sufficient basis for Plaintiffs 

6  Although Plaintiff has not alleged facts demonstrating that these Defendants knowingly 
misrepresented facts, Plaintiff may attempt to clarify and expand on his existing factual 
allegations to make such a demonstration. 

To the extent it has not already done so, the Court dismisses Plaintiffs claims against all 
other Defendants on this Count because they were not directly involved in the challenged 
activities. See Jones, 297 F.3d at 934. 

8  To the extent it has not already done so, the Court dismisses Plaintiffs claims against all 
other Defendants on this Count because they were not directly involved in the challenged 
activities. See Jones, 297 F.3d at 934. 
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claims here; no defendant could possibly fail to realize that perjury and misrepresentations violate 
substantive due process protections. Plaintiffs claims are therefore sufficient to survive 
Defendants' Motion. 

5. 	Religion-Based Defamation 

Finally, Plaintiff alleges that Hosch and Cole specifically violated his First Amendment right to 
freedom of religion by placing a burden on his religion. 9  In the FAC, Plaintiff alleges that Hosch 
and Cole knew based on conversations with Plaintiff that he is Orthodox Jewish, and that as a 
result he could not drive DWto karate practice on the Sabbath Day. (FAC ¶160.)  In spite of this 
knowledge, Hosch and Cole allegedly represented to the administrative court that Plaintiff refused 
to drive DW to karate practice because Ms. Fouzik had signed DW up for karate. (FAC ¶1 89.) 
Plaintiff is correct that to the extent Hosch and Cole used religion-mandated activity as part of the 
basis for removing DW from Plaintiffs custody, they improperly burdened his free exercise of 
religion. Thus, taking Plaintiffs allegations as true, the Court finds that Plaintiff has stated a cause 
of action under this count. 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court GRANTS IN PART AND DENIES IN PART Defendants' 
Motion with respect to Plaintiffs § 1983 claims. 

B. 	Monell-Related Claims 

Plaintiffs next claim is against the County and Directors for maintaining policies and procedures 
that match the violations alleged here. (FAC 197.) A municipal entity such as the County may 
only be found liable pursuant to § 1983 "when execution of a government's policy or custom, 
whether made by its lawmakers or by those whose edicts or acts may fairly be said to represent 
official policy, inflicts the injury." Monell v. Dept of Soc. Servs., 436 U.S. 658, 695 (1978) 
(emphasis added). This is a high standard that goes beyond mere respondeat superior "a 'policy' 
giving rise to liability cannot be established merely by identifying a policymaker's conduct that is 
properly attributable to the municipality. The plaintiff must also demonstrate that, through its 
deliberate conduct, the municipality was the 'moving force' behind the injury alleged. Bd. of Cnty. 
Comm'rs of Bryan Cnty., Ok!. v. Brown, 520 U.S. 397, 397 (1997). And as the Ninth Circuit has 
clarified, a plaintiff must show "that his injury resulted from a 'permanent and well-settled' practice" 
to establish that a municipality has a custom of depriving individuals of their constitutional rights. 
Thompson v. City of Los Angeles, 885 F.2d 1439, 1444 (9th Cir. 1989), overruled on other 
grounds by Bull v. City & Cnty. of San Francisco, 595 F.3d 964 (9th Cii. 2010). 

To the extent it has not already done so, the Court dismisses Plaintiffs claims against all 
other Defendants on this Count because they were not directly involved in the challenged 
activities. See Jones, 297 F.3d at 934. 
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In this case, Plaintiffs claims do not satisfy the heightened pleading standards of Iqbal. Plaintiff 
asserts that the County has the following policies and practices with respect to its employees: 

a) Detaining children in the absence of imminent danger; 
b) Removing children from their homes without warrants; 
c) Examining children without parents present; 
d) Detaining children after the basis for detention is negated; 
e) Fabricating evidence and hiding exculpatory evidence in court filings; 
f) Acting with deliberate indifference in inadequately training its officers; 
g) Claiming violations of certain laws by parents even without evidence; 
h) Making knowingly false allegations of child abuse or neglect; and 
i) Fraudulently charging parents with child abuse. 

(FACT 97.) Many of Plaintiffs alleged "policies" would be facially invalid—particularly those 
relating to improper detainer of children or dishonesty in discharging duties. The Court does not 
believe that retention of children without cause or deliberate dishonesty "may fairly be said to 
represent" the County's or Directors' official policies. See MoneIl, 436 U.S. at 695. Plaintiff has 
also provided no factual basis for his assertion that the County and Directors display "deliberate 
indifference" to the rights of the public by inadequately training their employees. And Plaintiff has 
similarly provided no factual basis for his claims that the County or Directors have a policy of 
removing children from their homes without first obtaining warrants. Even taking the facts as 
alleged to be true in their entirety, Plaintiff can at best establish that the individual employees 
involved in DW5 case seized DW without a warrant, misrepresented facts to keep him from 
Plaintiff, and/or were improperly trained to properly carry out their tasks in an impartial manner. 
Plaintiff has not alleged that anyone else suffered similarly from DCFS actions or failures, nor doe 
the Court believe that this defect may be remedied in the instant case. As such, Plaintiff falls well 
short of establishing any sort of policy or practice. The Court GRANTS Defendant's Motion with 
respect to Plaintiffs Second Claim, and DISMISSES this claim WITHOUT LEAVE TO AMEND. 

C. 	Immunity under California Law 

Defendant moves to dismiss Plaintiffs claims for violation of state civil rights based on absolute 
immunity. (Mot. 17-18.) Under California law, "a public employee is not liable for an injury 
resulting from his act or omission where the act or omission was the result of the exercise of the 
discretion vested in him, whether or not such discretion be abused." Cal. Gov't Code § 820.2. 
Similarly, "a public employee is not liable for injury caused by his instituting or prosecuting any 
judicial or administrative proceedings within the scope of his employment, even if he acts 
maliciously and without probable cause." Cal. Gov't Code § 821.6 (emphasis added). However, 
"[n]otwithstanding any other provision of the law, the civil immunity of juvenile court social workers 

shall not extend to any of the following, if bommitted with malice: (1) Perjury[;] (2) Fabrication 
of evidence[;] (3) Failure to disclose known exculpatory evidence[; and] (4) Obtaining testimony 
by duress" Cal Gov't Code § 820.21. Here, Plaintiff has alleged that the Investigators 
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purposefully misrepresented facts relevant to the DW investigation with malice. For the reasons 
above, the Court holds that Plaintiffs allegations regarding misrepresentations of fact are sufficient 
to demonstrate malice by the Investigators. However, also for the reasons above, the Court holds 
that Plaintiffs allegations do not demonstrate malice on the part of the remaining Filers, 
Administrators, or Directors. The Court also notes that the exception listed in section 820.21 only 
applies to dishonesty during the investigative process, and not to decisions to remove children 
from their parents' care, Cal Gov't Code section 820.21, which means that the Removal Team is 
immune under § 820.2 for its decision to remove DWfrom Plaintiffs custody in 2010. The Court 
therefore grants immunity to all Social Workers except for the Investigators, and by extension the 
County, 1°  DISMISSES Plaintiffs charges against them with leave to amend, and limits its 
discussion on all state law claims below to the Investigators' alleged actions. 

D. 	Violation of State Civil Rights 

Plaintiff claims violations of multiple constitutional rights, enforcement of which is ensured under 
California Civil Code ("CCC") section 52.1.11  (See generally FAC.) Section 52.1 allows relief for 
"[a]ny individual whose exercise or enjoyment of rights secured by the constitution or laws of the 
United States, or of rights secured by the Constitution or laws of this state, has been interfered 
with." Cal. Civ. Code § 52.1(b). However, this relief is allowed only if the interference is 
accomplished by means of "threats, intimidation, or coercion." Cal. Civ. Code § 52.1. Plaintiff 
argues that "California Courts have stopped short of requiring that plaintiffs allege violence or 
threats." (Opp'n 15.) But Plaintiffs citation to caselaw is extremely misleading: the case in 
question in fact explicitly rejects the idea that constitutional violations absent intimidation or 
coercion can possibly create a cause of action under section 52.1. Shoyoye v. Cnty. of Los 
Angeles, 203 Cal. App. 4th 947, 959 (2012). ([T]he [California] Legislature. . . considered, but 
rejected, a proposal to delete the language requiring interference 'by threats, intimidation, or 
coercion'.... Civil Code § 52.1 focuses specifically on the additional element present especially 

° California Government Code section 815.2 provides that a public entity is proximately 
liable for actions of its employees only where the employees are also personally liable; 
where employees are immune, the entity will also be immune. Cal. Gov't Code § 815.2. 
The County is thus immune from liability based on the actions of all Defendants except the 
Investigators. 

The main provision Plaintiff can rely on in this case is CCC section 43, which 
establishes individual rights to protection from defamation and injury to personal relations. 
Cal. Civ. Code § 43. Plaintiff also claims that his rights under CCC section 49, which deals 
with abduction of a child, were violated; but the Investigators are not alleged to have 
abducted DW from Plaintiffs custody. And CCC section 52 provides a separate 
enforcement mechanism for violations of CCC section 51(b), which requires full and equal 
accommodations and services from all business establishments; but none of the 
Defendants in this case are a business establishment. 
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in hate violence, viz., putting persons in fear of their safety. It is the element of threat, intimidation, 
or coercion that is being emphasized in Civil Code § 52.1." Here, quite clearly, Plaintiff has never 
alleged that any Defendants utilized any threats, intimidation, or coercion at any time. Thus, 
Plaintiff has no basis for his claims. The Court therefore GRANTS Defendants' motion as to all 
California civil claims, and DISMISSES these claims without leave to amend. 

E. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress 

Defendants next challenge Plaintiffs claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress ("lIED"). 
The elements of an lIED claim are: "(1) extreme and outrageous conduct by the defendant with 
the intention of causing, or reckless disregard of the probability of causing, emotional distress; 
(2) the plaintiffs' suffering severe or extreme emotional distress; and (3) actual and proximate 
causation of the emotional distress by the defendant's outrageous conduct." Christensen V. 

Superior Court, 54 Cal. 3d 868, 903(1991). "Conduct is outrageous if it is so extreme as to exceed 
all bounds of that which is usually tolerated in a civilized community." Id. Here, the Investigators 
have allegedly purposefully and maliciously misrepresented facts collected during their 
investigation of the DW matter. (FAC ¶1109;  see generally FAC.) Plaintiff has certainly suffered 
severe emotional distress as a result of losing custody over DW. (FAC ¶1 113.) And it is clear that, 
to the extent the Investigators misrepresented facts to Plaintiffs detriment, they caused the DCFS 
to remove DW from Plaintiffs custody and thereby caused Plaintiffs severe emotional distress. 
Plaintiff has therefore properly alleged a cause of action for lIED against the Investigators. 
However, for the reasons given above all remaining Defendants have immunity under California 
law. The Court thus GRANTS IN PART AND DENIES IN PART Defendants' Motion as to 
Plaintiffs lIED claim, and DISMISSES this claim as to all Defendants exceptthe Investigators with 
leave to amend. 

F. Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress and Negligence 

Defendants also challenge Plaintiffs claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress ("NIED"), 
and for negligence. Under California law, "[t]here is no independent action for the negligent 
infliction of emotional distress; it is simply one species of negligence." Schwarz v. Regents of 
Univ. of Cal., 276 Cal. Rptr. 470, 472 (Ct. App. 1990). Thus, "[t]he traditional elements of duty, 
breach of duty, causation, and damages apply." Burgess v. Superior Court, 831 P.2d 1197, 1200 
(Cal. 1992). Plaintiff here has not alleged any facts in the FAC that would go to negligence; all 
allegations of "negligent conduct" in the FAC are conclusory and unsupported by any additional 
facts. (FAC ¶111119, 125, 136.) This is in clear violation of lqbal pleading requirements, and so 
the Court GRANTS Defendants' Motion as to Plaintiffs NIED and Negligence claims and 
DISMISSES these claims as to all Defendants without leave to amend. 

G. Abuse of Process 
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Defendants do not ask the Court to dismiss Plaintiffs claim for abuse of process. (See generally 
Mot.) However, because this is a state claim it is subject to the Court's finding on immunities from 
prosecution. The Court therefore DISMISSES this claim as to all Defendants except the 
Investigators with leave to amend. 

H. 	Failure to Discharge a Mandatory Duty 

Plaintiffs eighth claim for relief is based on his contention that Defendants failed to properly 
consider all the circumstances before deciding to remove DWfrom Plaintiffs custody in 2012.12 
California requires social workers to "consider whether [a] child can remain safely in his or her 
residence" before removing the child from that residence and taking him or her into custody. Cal. 
Welf. & Inst. Code § 306(b). The factors social workers must consider include alternate services, 
a public assistant, or transfer to a nonoffending caretaker. Id. Here, Plaintiff alleges that 
Defendants did not consider any of these factors (FAC ¶ 135), but he fails to allege any facts in 
support of this contention. In fact, to the contrary, Plaintiffs own alleged facts demonstrate that 
he participated in a "Team Decision Meeting" that addressed the question of whether to remove 
DW, which preceded the removal itself. (FAC 1148.)  Defendants also filed multiple reports and 
affidavits in support of their position that DW should be removed from Plaintiffs custody. (FAC 
¶ 48-60.) Plaintiff has not alleged any facts suggesting that alternatives were not considered, 
and so his claim does not satisfy lqbal pleading requirements. The Court therefore GRANTS 
Defendants' Motion as to Plaintiffs claim under section 306(b), and DISMISSES this claim as to 
all Defendants with leave to amend. 

Invasion of Privacy 

Plaintiffs next claim is for invasion of privacy. In order to properly demonstrate invasion of privacy, 
a plaintiff must establish (1) that the defendant "intrude[d] into a place, conversation, or matter as 
to which the plaintiff has a reasonable expectation of privacy;" and (2) that the intrusion occurred 
"in a manner highly offensive to a reasonable person." Hernandez v. Hillsides, Inc., 47 Cal. 4th 
272, 286 (2009). Plaintiff alleges that Defendants violated his right to privacy "by way of the 
defendants' commission of perjury, fabrication of evidence, unwarranted governmental intrusion 
into his family life, and continued separation from his child." (Opp'n 18.) None of these actions 
in any way suggest that Defendants intruded into a matter where Plaintiff has a reasonable 
expectation of privacy: child custody investigations require extensive investigation, with which 
Plaintiff cooperated, and Plaintiff has not alleged that any Defendants inquired into matters that 
were not relevant to the DW case. (See generally FAC.) Further, even if there were intrusion, 
Plaintiff has not alleged that the investigation was carried out in a way that could be "highly 
offensive" to a reasonable person. Plaintiff is understandably upset with the fact that an 

12  Although DWwas removed from Plaintiffs custody on two occasions, Plaintiff only states 
a claim based on the second removal. (FAC ¶ 133.) 
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investigation occurred, as well as with the result of Defendants' investigation, but nothing in the 
facts alleged suggests that even Plaintiff was upsetwith the method of the investigation, much less 
that any reasonable person could be so upset. The Court therefore GRANTS Defendants' Motion 
with respect to Plaintiffs Invasion of Privacy claim and DISMISSES this claim as to all Defendants 
without leave to amend. 

J. 	Declaratory Relief 

Finally, Plaintiff asks the Court to grant declaratory relief against the County, preventing them from 
engaging in the types of activities Plaintiff has alleged. Without addressing the merits of this 
request, the Court must abstain. As the Supreme Court has held, federal courts should abstain 
from providing injunctive relief that could interfere withr ongoing state court proceedings. Younger 
v. Harris, 401 U.S. 37, 40-41 (1971). This doctrine has been extended to apply to state 
administrative proceedings as well. Moore v. Sims, 442 U.S. 415 (1979). Plaintiff has alleged in 
his FAC that he is currently "mired in juvenile dependancy proceedings." (FAC IT 67.) Any 
injunction preventing DCFS from pursuing its current policies would invariably interfere with these 
ongoing proceedings. The Court therefore GRANTS Defendants' Motion with respect to Plaintiffs 
claim for Declaratory Relief and DISMISSES this claim without leave to amend. 

III. 	CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court GRANTS IN PART AND DENIES IN PART the Motion. The 
Court DISMISSES the following claims without leave to amend: (1) the § 1983 claims against 
the Supervisors and the County; (2) the MoneII-related claims; (3) the California civil rights claims; 
(4) the NIED claim; (5) the Negligence claim; (6) the Invasion of Privacy Claim; and (7) the claim 
for Declaratory Relief. The Court DISMISSES the following claims with leave to amend: (1) the 
§ 1983 claims against all Social Workers except the Investigators and the Removal Team; (2) the 
lIED claim against all Defendants except the Investigators; (3)the Abuse of Process claim against 
all Defendants except the Investigators; and (4) the Failure to Discharge a Mandatory Duty claim. 
The Court MAINTAINS the following claims: (1) the § 1983 claims against the Investigators and 
the Removal Team; (2) the lIED claim against the Investigators; and (3) the Abuse of Process 
claim against the Investigators. 

Plaintiff is instructed to file an amended complaint in compliance with this Order on or before 
July 15, 2013. Defendants shall respond to this complaint on or before August 5, 2013. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 
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